FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/14/2025
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/14/2025 11:37 AM

Case #: 1037911

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON No
(Court of Appeals, Division 1, No. 85676-6-1)
In the Matter of the Tony Vivolo Residuary Trust F/B/O Nicholas Vivolo and the Estate of Nicholas Vivolo
Steven Vivolo, as Personal Representative and beneficiary of the Estate of Nicholas Vivolo,
Appellant,
Christopher Vivolo,
Respondent.
PETITION FOR REVIEW
Attorney for Steven Vivolo:  Holly A. Surface  612 South 227 <sup>th</sup> Street  Des Moines, WA 98198

## **

I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF

**PETITIONER** 

Steven Vivolo ("Steven")1 is the brother and sole

beneficiary of Nicholas Vivolo, as well as the undisputed

appointee of Nicholas' power of appointment with respect to

a Non-Exempt GSTT Trust and the appointee of Nicholas'

power of appointment with respect to the Tony Vivolo

Residuary Trust ("Residuary Trust").

At issue is whether Nicholas exercised his power of

appointment with respect to the Residuary Trust. RCW

11.95A.010(3), pertaining to blanket exercise clauses, and

RCW 11.95A.200, pertaining to the requirements necessary

to exercise powers of appointment, are under review and are

matters of first impression and substantial public interest in

this matter.

<sup>1</sup> Since many involved individuals share the same last name, first names only are used

for simplicity. No disrespect is intended.

**DES MOINES ELDER LAW** 

612 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA 98198 206-408-2020

Fax: 206-408-2022

In addition, the Court of Appeals has misapplied wellestablished Washington Supreme Court authority as well as Washington Court of Appeals opinions in support of the

instant opinion; thus, this Court should grant review.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I filed its opinion on December 16, 2024. See

Appendix at pp A-1 – A-17. The trial court's decision is

reproduced at A-18 - A-22.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the testator, Nicholas Vivolo, intend to exercise his

power of appointment with respect to the Tony Vivolo

Residuary Trust by use of the language "this includes but is

not limited to" when such language could not possibly refer

to anything else?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals' opinion is generally correct with

respect to its recitation of the facts and procedure. Op. pp 1 - 5.

DES MOINES ELDER LAW

However, some necessary facts were omitted or require more emphasis as outlined below.

At the time of his death, Nicholas' estate had a beneficial interest in three trusts: (1) the GSTT-Exempt Trust for the benefit of Nicholas Vivolo, CP 15; (2) the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust for the benefit of Nicholas Vivolo, CP16; and (3) the Vivolo Family (Tony Vivolo) Residuary Trust for the benefit of

Upon Nicholas' death, the assets in the GSTT-Exempt Trust passed directly to the next generation without becoming a part of Nicholas' taxable estate. Thus, Nicholas' estate held only its beneficial interests in the GSTT Non-Exempt Trust and the Residuary Trust. The estate's interest in each trust was a power of appointment. Each of these trusts was a nonexempt trust with respect to the generation skipping transfer tax, with that tax exemption having been fully utilized in the GSTT Exempt Trust. Furthermore, pursuant to Iona's will, the terms of both

DES MOINES ELDER LAW \$12 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA. 98198 20 \$408-2020 Fax: 20\$-448-2022

Nicholas Vivolo. CP 8.

the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust and the Residuary Trust were identical.

In his will, Nicholas identified his nearest relatives as his brothers, Steven and Vance, noting his brother Ronald was deceased. He did not mention his deceased brothers, Vincent or Joseph, who are the fathers of Christopher and Joe Woody, respectively. CP 68. Neither Christopher nor Joe Woody were mentioned in Nicholas' will.

The result of the trial court's ruling was that significant assets, ¼ of approximately \$1,290,377.09, CP 9, pass to Nicholas' brother Vance, who is identified as family in Nicholas' will, but for whom he did not otherwise provide, CP 70. In addition, ¼ of \$1,290,377.09, CP 9, passed to each of Christopher and Joe Woody, Nicholas' nephews, who are not mentioned as family in his will, and whose deceased fathers are also not mentioned in Nicholas' will, and for whom he did not otherwise provide. CP 70. Finally, Steven would also receive

DES MOINES ELDER LAW \$12 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA. 98198 20 6448-2020 Fax: 206-448-2022 only ¼ of \$1,290,377.09, CP 9, when Nicholas' clear intent was to leave Steven everything he had, including both property and authority. CP 70. In the event Steven predeceased, Nicholas did not intend to benefit the individuals benefitted by the order currently on appeal; rather, he left his entire residuary estate to Steven's family. *Id*.

# V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should address four issues: (1) the Court of Appeals misapplied the effect of the "separate writing" to the will in support of its conclusion that Nicholas did not exercise his power of appointment with respect to the Residuary Trust, contrary to Supreme Court authority related to specific and residuary bequests; (2) Nicholas did exercise his power of appointment with respect to the Residuary Trust pursuant to RCW 11.95A.010(3) and RCW 11.95A.200, the construction of which is a matter of first impression and substantial public

DES MOINES ELDER LAW \$12 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA. 98198 20 \$408-2020 Fax: 20\$-448-2022 interest; (3) the Court of Appeals unnecessarily narrowed the holding of *First Interstate Bank of Wash. v. Lindberg*, 49 Wn. App. 788, 795, 746 P.2d 333 (1987) to apply only to single and straightforward trusts or estates; and (4) the Court of Appeals did not analyze the circumstances surrounding Nicholas' execution of his will, which support the conclusion that Nicholas intended to exercise the power of appointment with respect to the Residuary Trust.

a. The Court of Appeals misapplied the effect of the "separate writing" to the Will.

The Court of Appeals determined that Nicholas' use of the words "this includes, but is not limited to," refers to additional tangible personal property Nicholas may desire to leave Steven, by way of a separate writing to the will, as opposed to exercise of his power of appointment with respect to the Residuary Trust. This conclusion is utterly at odds with well-established Washington precedent and is reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

DES MOINES ELDER LAW \$12 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA 98198 20 6498-2020 Fax: 206488-2022 Article IV of Nicholas' will states, "I give all my interest in certain items of tangible personal property to the persons designated in a separate writing, which is signed by me and included in this Will on page 9 that describes those items of property and directs their disposition..." CP 69.

Article V of Nicholas' will provides:

After payment of taxes and liabilities, and other expenses of administration, I give, devise, and bequeath the rest, residue and remainder of my estate to my brother, STEVEN VIVOLO. If Steven Vivolo predeceases me or we die in a common accident, I give, devise and bequeath the rest, residue and remainder of my estate to Suluama T. Vivolo-Laumea Vivolo and my nieces and nephews, Machael A. Vivolo, Faith C. Vivolo, Anthony M. Vivolo and Kathleen Kay M. Vivolo, equally to share and share alike....

CP 118. Nicholas then left specific instructions pertaining to the power(s)<sup>2</sup> of appointment.

**DES MOINES ELDER LAW** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> While it is not necessary to refer to both powers individually... it is done so here for the Court's ease of reference.

*This includes, but is not limited to,* my power to appoint and my appointive property as outlined in the non-exempt GSTT Trust that I am to take free of trust as outlined in that certain TEDRA Agreement.....

CP 118. *Emphasis added*.

fall to the residue of the estate.

Thus, any items of tangible personal property not specifically designated on the separate writing would fall to the residue of the estate. This is consistent with well-established Washington precedent. When a specific bequest is found to be invalid, the bequest falls into the residuary estate; but, where a residuary bequest fails, the testator will usually die intestate as to it. *In re Quick's Est.*, 33 Wn. 2d 568, 206 P.2d 489 (1949). Accordingly, any property that is not specifically bequeathed or devised will

The Court of Appeals' reasoning creates an impossible result.

"Nicholas allowed himself the ability to later dispose of tangible personal property. Viewed in the context of the entire will, the phrase "not limited to" suggests that he could leave

**DES MOINES ELDER LAW** 

additional personal property to Steven beyond his power to appoint and his appointive property...". Op. pp. 15-16.

However, Steven is the recipient of all property, both real and personal, not otherwise bequeathed or devised in the will pursuant to the residuary clause. The separate writing related to tangible personal property could not give Steven additional personal property because he receives it all anyway. The only purpose of the pages of the separate writing would be if Nicholas wanted to leave tangible personal property to someone *other than* Steven. Thus, the phrase, "this includes, but is not limited to" can only refer to additional authority Nicholas desires to leave Steven because Steven will receive all property, including tangible personal property, without the necessity of separate writing.

Nicholas can only give Steven authority with respect to two powers of appointment, the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust, and the Residuary Trust. Nicholas clearly appoints Steven with respect

DES MOINES ELDER LAW \$12 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA. 98198 20 6488-2020 Fax: 206-488-2022 to the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust. The only other possible thing

that the phrase, "this includes, but is not limited to," could refer

to is appointment with respect to the Residuary Trust.

In Washington, the Testator's intent must, if possible, be

ascertained from the language of the will itself, considered in its

entirety, with effect given every part thereof. Matter of Est. of

Bergau, 103 Wn. 2d 431, 693 P.2d 703 (1985). Thus, the Court

of Appeals must give effect to the words 'this includes, but is

not limited to," but must not rely on impossibilities to support

its interpretation.

b. The Court of Appeals' mistaken interpretation of the blanket exercise clause is an issue of statutory

construction of first impression and of substantial public interest, meriting this Court's review

pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

As set forth in RCW 11.95A.010(3):

(3) "Blanket-exercise clause" means a clause in an

instrument which exercises a power of appointment and is not a specific-exercise clause.

The term includes a clause that:

**DES MOINES ELDER LAW** 

Fax: 206-408-2022

- (a) Expressly uses the words "any power" in exercising any power of appointment the powerholder has;
- (b) Expressly uses the words "any property" in appointing any property over which the powerholder has a power of appointment; or
- (c) Disposes of all property subject to disposition by the powerholder.

*RCW* 11.95*A*.**0**1**0**(3).

The Court of Appeals determined that Nicholas' use of the phrase, "includes, but is not limited to," is not a blanket exercise clause, but instead he referenced only the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust. Op. 16-17. This is a very narrow interpretation of both the statute and the phrase, when each are intended to be interpreted broadly and "not limited".

This Court reviews the meaning of statutes de novo. *State* v. *Wentz*, 149 Wn.2d 342, 346, 68 P.3d 282 (2003). The purpose of statutory interpretation is to effectuate legislative intent. *State* v. *Evans*, 177 Wn.2d 186, 192, 298 P.3d 724 (2013). The Court does so by looking at the plain language of the statute, considering the text of the provision and its context

within the statute, related provisions, and the statutory scheme.

Id. Here, the phrases "any power" and "any property" should not be construed to be limited to just that language as other phrases, such as "all power" and "all property" and "my power' and "my property" as well as other possibilities, provide the same effect. Indeed, part (c) specifically anticipates other phrases that dispose of all property subject to disposition.

In resolving an issue of statutory construction, courts first look to the plain meaning of the statute. *Matter of Dependency of E.M.*, 197 Wn.2d 492, 499, 484 P.3d 461 (2021). The statute's "plain meaning" is "discerned from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question." *State, Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). When the statute's meaning is unambiguous, no further inquiry is needed, and the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative

DES MOINES ELDER LAW \$12 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA. 98198 20 6488-2020 Fax: 206-488-2022 intent. *Id*.at 9-10. Courts "resort to the aids of statutory construction" only if the statute is ambiguous. *Id*.at 12.

Here, the unambiguous language of RCW 11.95A. • 1•(3) allows for very broad interpretations of language that disposes of all property subject to disposition by the powerholder. As argued previously, the phrase, "includes, but is not limited to," could not possibly refer to property in addition to the estate residue – which gave all property to Steven. It could only refer to authority in addition to the power of appointment with respect to the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust.

In addition, the TEDRA Agreement reinstated the Residuary Trust to those that existed prior to the merger in 2008. CP 30. That would refer to the terms of Iona's 2005 will, in which she exercised her power of appointment granted to her by Tony as to his Residuary Trust. As expressed in Iona's will, "the Shares from my husband's Residuary Trust described in this Article V shall be administered and distributed in the same

DES MOINES ELDER LAW \$12 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA. 98198 20 \$408-2020 Fax: 20\$-448-2022 manner as the Shares of the Non-GSTT Exempt Trust described

in Article II, paragraph 3.". Op. p. 13. Thus, Nicholas' specific

reference to the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust captures the exact

language necessary to exercise the power of appointment with

respect to both trusts.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals did not engage in any

analysis of whether it would be necessary to use the word

"powers" instead of "power", where "power" is a noncount

noun<sup>3</sup> and refers to the same right but is invoked as to multiple

instruments. The unambiguous reading of the language results

in a finding that Nicholas intended that "my power to appoint"

be expressed and exercised, and the property associated with

such power to be given to Steven.

Furthermore, "my power to appoint" is separate and

distinct from "my appointive property as outlined in the Non-

Exempt GSTT Trust..." CP 70. Appointive property in the

<sup>3</sup> 'Water' and Other Noncount Nouns | Merriam-Webster

**DES MOINES ELDER LAW** 

612 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA 98198 206-408-2020

Fax: 206-408-2022

Non-Exempt GSTT Trust is distinguished from power to appoint by second use of the word "my" which invokes the last antecedent rule, in which qualifying words and phrases, both grammatically and legally refer to the last antecedent. *In re Seaton's Estate*, 4 Wn.App. 380, 481 P.2d 567 (1971).

In *Seaton*, the will provided that the son "shall have the right to purchase... the one-half interest of my daughter in the farm owned by me... I hereby fix the value of said property at the sum of \$22,000." *Id.* The issue was whether \$22,000 was intended as the value of the farm or the one-half interest in the farm. Under the last antecedent rule, the \$22,000 value was apparently intended to apply to the entire farm, with the one-half interest valued at \$11,000. *Id.* Similarly, the antecedent "in the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust" refers only to "my appointive property." This is further amplified by lack of a comma between "my power to appoint and my appointive property...".

The Court of Appeals has rewritten Nicholas's will from:

DES MOINES ELDER LAW \$12 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA. 98198 20 \$408-2020 Fax: 20\$-448-2022 "this includes but is not limited to, my power to appoint and my appointive property as outlined in the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust"; to

"this includes but is not limited to, my power to appoint and appointive property as outlined in the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust";

The two readings create dramatically different effects.

Thus, removing the second "my", reading additional limitations into the language, is an error of law particularly where the Court found the language of the will was unambiguous. *Matter of Est. of Wendl*, 37 Wn. App. 894, 897.

In addition, the Court of Appeals applied an unnecessarily limiting interpretation of *First Interstate Bank of Wash. v. Lindberg*, 49 Wn. App. 788, 795, 746 P.2d 333 (1987), which stands for the proposition that a power of appointment need not be expressly mentioned if the intent to exercise it is otherwise clear. *Id.* The Court of Appeals

DES MOINES ELDER LAW \$12 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA. 98198 20 6448-2020 Fax: 206-448-2022 determined that *Lindberg* was distinguishable because the Court in that case was only dealing with a straightforward situation involving power of appointment with respect to a single trust.

Op. p. 16.

However, although the case at bar involves the exercise of a power of appointment with respect to two trusts, *Lindberg* is still applicable and the instant Opinion is therefore in conflict. While the crux of the issue is whether Nicholas' exercise of "my power to appoint" applies to a power of appointment with respect to either one or two trusts, the use of the phrase, "includes, but is not limited to" provides the clear intent to exercise the power of appointment with respect to both trusts, because the phrase could not possibly refer to additional property. Thus, this Opinion incorrectly limits the applicability of *Lindberg* to issues involving only one power of appointment.

DES MOINES ELDER LAW \$12 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA 98198 206488-2020 c. Nicholas' exercise of the power of appointment with respect to the Residuary Trust is in compliance with RCW 11.95A.200.

A power of appointment is exercised only:

- (1) If the instrument exercising the power is valid under applicable law;
- (2) If the terms of the instrument exercising the power:
- (a) Manifest the powerholder's intent to exercise the power; and
- (b) Subject to RCW 11.95A.230, satisfy the requirements of exercise, if any, imposed by the donor; and
- (3) To the extent the appointment is a permissible exercise of the power.

In this case, the instrument exercising the power,
Nicholas' Last Will and Testament, is valid and has been
properly admitted to probate. The terms of the will manifest
Nicholas's intent to exercise the power, as discussed above, it
would be impossible for the phrase, "includes, but is not limited
to," to refer to additional property when Steven receives all
property under the residuary clause, and Nicholas may only
grant a power of appointment with respect to two trusts. The
phrase, "includes, but is not limited to," can only refer to the

power of appointment with respect to the trust not specifically mentioned.

There are no requirements of exercise imposed by Iona, so a review of RCW 11.95A.230 is not necessary. CP 19. There is no question that the appointment is a permissible exercise of the power. RCW 11.95A.240(1) provides, "[a] powerholder of a general power of appointment that permits appointment to the powerholder of the powerholder's estate may make any appointment, including an appointment in trust or creating a new power of appointment, that the powerholder could make in disposing of the powerholder's own property." RCW 11.95A.240(1). In this case, the powerholder, Nicholas, may make any appointment that he could make in disposing of his own property. He has devised the asset to his brother, Steven, a proper exercise of the power of appointment.

d. The Court of Appeals did not analyze the circumstances surrounding the will's execution.

DES MOINES ELDER LAW \$12 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA. \$8198 2 0 6 488-2020 Fax: 206-448-2022

The Court of Appeals outlined Washington law pertaining to the paramount duty of the court in construing a will, which is to give effect to a testator's intent. Bergau, 103 Wn.2d 431,435. This includes consideration including an awareness of the surrounding circumstances when the will was drawn. In re Estate of Riemcke, 80 Wn.2d 722, 728, 497 P.2d 1319 (1972). Circumstances to be considered include whether the testator intended a class gift; the fact of whether there is a natural class among the beneficiaries, the relationship of the testator to the objects of his bounty, the subject matter of the gift, and the skill of the draftsman of the will. See, e.g. In re Estate of Newbert, 16 Wn.App. 327, 555 P.2d 1189 (1976). See Op. pp. 11-12.

Additionally, the court may consider evidence of the testator's relationship to the parties named in the will, his disposition as evidenced by provisions made for them, and the general trend of his benevolence. *Bergau at 436*. The Court of

DES MOINES ELDER LAW \$12 S. 227TH ST. DES MOINES, WA. 98198 2 0 6488-2020 Fax: 206-488-2022 Appeals did not, however, analyze the law with the facts of the

case in this respect.

The parties to benefit if Nicholas did not exercise the power

of appointment (with respect to the Residuary Trust) are given

minimal, if any, mention in the will. Neither Christopher, Joe

Woody, nor Vance are included among the general trend of

Nicholas' benevolence. No disposition of either property or

authority is made for them. Furthermore, no mention is made of

either Christopher, Joe Woody, or Nicholas's brothers, Vincent

or Joseph, who are the fathers of Christopher and Joe Woody,

respectively. Nicholas does, however, mention his deceased

brother, Ronald. CP 68. The result of the trial court's ruling is

that individuals who are not among the deceased's "general

trend of benevolence" and are scantly, if at all, mentioned in

Nicholas Vivolo's will, receive a substantial inheritance of

approximately \$322,594.27.4.

<sup>4</sup> One fourth of \$1,290,377.09

**DES MOINES ELDER LAW** 

Fax: 206-408-2022

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