FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/13/2025 11:50 AM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 1037911

(Court of Appeals, Division I, No. 85676-6-I)

IN THE MATTER OF THE TONY VIVOLO RESIDUARY TRUST F/B/O NICHOLAS VIVOLO AND THE ESTATE OF NICHOLAS VIVOLO,

STEVEN VIVOLO, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE AND BENEFICIARY OF THE ESTATE OF NICHOLAS VIVOLO Appellant,

v.

CHRISTOPHER VIVOLO, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ann T. Wilson (WSBA #18213) Duffy G. Romnor (WSBA #52822) STOKES LAWRENCE, P.S. 1420 5th Ave., Suite 3000 Seattle, WA 98101 Attorneys for Respondent Christopher Vivolo

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

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Petition Fails to Meet RAP 13.4 Standards.

Steven petitions for Supreme Court review pursuant to RAP13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). However, his Petition fails to assign error to any portion of the Court of Appeals' decision, nor does he identify grounds for review under RAP13.4(b). *See* Pet. at 18-22, §§ V.c-d. Supreme Court review cannot be had absent a qualifying basis under RAP13.4(b). RAP13.4(c)(7) (requiring a "direct and concise statement of the reason why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in section (b), with argument").

Furthermore, his petition does not qualify for review under RAP 13.4 or its sub-parts—Steven does not identify any conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and a decision of the Washington Supreme Court (RAP 13.4(b)(1)), any conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and a published Court of Appeals decision (RAP 13.4(b)(2)), or any issue of substantial public interest (RAP 13.4(b)(4)). These failures disqualify Steven's petition from review under RAP 13.4.

B. The Petition Fails to Satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(1) Because There is No Conflict with a Supreme Court Decision.

Steven petitions for Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), which requires a conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and a decision of the Washington Supreme Court. However, Steven fails to identify such a conflict.

He cites two Supreme Court cases:

- In re Quick's Est., 33 Wn. 2d 568, 206 P.2d 489 (1949)
 for the general rule that when a specific bequest is
 found to be invalid, the bequest falls into the residuary
 estate; but, where a residuary bequest fails, the testator
 usually dies intestate as to that property. Pet. at 8.
- Matter of Est. of Bergau, 103 Wn. 2d 431, 693 P.2d
 703 (1985) for the principle that a testator's intent must

be ascertained from the will's language, giving effect to all provisions. Pet. at 10.

Neither case conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decision. The issue in this case is not whether a failed bequest falls into the residuary estate as in *Quick*, but rather whether Nicholas' Will exercised his power of appointment over the Residuary Trust. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Nicholas' Will unambiguously exercised his power of appointment only over the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust, not the Residuary Trust.

Steven's reliance on *Bergau* is similarly misplaced. The Court of Appeals did precisely what *Bergau* instructs—it examined the Will's language as a whole, considered Nicholas' explicit reference to only one trust, and determined that his intent was clear. There is no Supreme Court decision holding that a residuary clause must be interpreted as exercising all possible powers of appointment unless expressly limited.

Because Steven does not identify a Supreme Court case that conflicts with the Court of Appeals' reasoning, only

9

asserting his own disagreement with that reasoning, his Petition fails under RAP 13.4(b)(1), and review should be denied.

C. The Petition Fails to Satisfy Either RAP 13.4(b)(2) or (4) Because There is No Conflict With a Published Court of Appeals' Decision, Nor Does This Case Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Although he does not actually refer to either RAP 13.4(b)(2)or to RAP 13.4(b)(4), - or their standards, Steven appears to invoke those provisions as a basis for granting discretionary review. However, he fails to satisfy the requirements of either rule. The Court of Appeals' decision in this case does not involve an issue substantial public interest, nor does it conflict with a published Court of Appeals decision.

1. The Decision Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Steven argues that the Court of Appeals' ruling raises an issue of substantial public interest because it affects the interpretation of wills and trust. *See* Pet. at 10-13. However, RAP 13.4(b)(4) applies only when an issue affects a broad segment of the public beyond the parties to the case.

For example, in *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005), the Court found substantial public interest where the Court of Appeals' decision affected sentencing policies in all Pierce County criminal cases. No such widespread impact exists here. This case concerns the specific wording of a single individual's will and how it interacts with a particular trust.

The Court of Appeals' decision is fact-specific and does not announce a new rule of law or alter how Washington courts interpret wills. The ruling simply applies existing statutory and common law principles to determine whether Nicholas exercised his power of appointment over the Residuary Trust. Because the decision does not implicate a broadly significant legal issue, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

2. The Decision Does Not Conflict with a Published Court of Appeals Decision under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Steven suggests that the Court of Appeals' ruling narrows First Interstate Bank of Washington v. Lindberg, 49 Wn. App. 788, 746 P.2d 333 (1987), which held that a testator need not explicitly mention a power of appointment if their intent to exercise it is clear. Pet at 6, 16–17. However, the Court of Appeals did not narrow or modify *Lindberg*—it merely distinguished *Lindberg* from this case, based on the facts.

In *Lindberg*, the testator's will explicitly referred to "all property subject to my disposition," which included property controlled by a power of appointment. The Court found that such language demonstrated the testator's clear intent to exercise their power of appointment over all property. *Lindberg*, 49 Wn. App. at 795; *accord* RCW 11.95A.010(3) (defining "blanket-exercise clause").

In contrast, Nicholas' Will specifically referenced only <u>one</u> of his powers of appointment—his power of appointment over the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust —and omitted any mention of the Residuary Trust or its property.(CP 70.) The Court of Appeals concluded that this omission demonstrated his intent <u>not</u> <u>to</u> exercise his power of appointment over the Residuary Trust.

12

See Matter of Tony Vivolo Residuary Tr., No. 85676-6-I, 2024 WL 5118405, at *9 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 16, 2024).

Because *Lindberg* involved a general reference to all property subject to disposition, while Nicholas' Will referred to only a single trust, the Court of Appeals properly distinguished the cases rather than creating a conflict. Its decision is based on facts that are unique to this case and does not include any original statutory interpretation analysis that could create an issue of substantial public interest.

Because Steven has not identified a conflicting Court of Appeals decision, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

D. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied RCW 11.95A.010(3) and Washington Law.

Steven argues that Nicholas' residuary clause should be interpreted as a "blanket-exercise clause", meaning that it exercised all of his powers of appointment, including over the Residuary Trust. Pet. at 10–13. In determining that Nicholas did not use any "blanket-exercise clause", the Court of Appeals properly rejected this argument under RCW 11.95A.010(3) and Washington common law. *See Matter of Tony Vivolo Residuary Tr.*, 2024 WL 5118405, at *9; *but see* Pet. at 10-13.

Washington recognizes two categories of exercise clauses: a "specific-exercise clause" and a "blanket-exercise clause." RCW 11.95A.010(3), (16). A specific-exercise clause is "a clause in an instrument which specifically refers to and exercises a particular power of appointment." RCW 11.95A.010(6). A blanket-exercise clause is a "clause in an instrument which exercises a power of appointment <u>and is not a specific-exercise</u> <u>clause.</u>" RCW 11.95A.010(3) (emphasis added). A blanketexercise clause includes a clause that:

(a) Expressly uses the words "any power" in exercising any power of appointment the powerholder has;

(b) Expressly uses the words "any property" in appointing any property over which the powerholder has a power of appointment; or

(c) Disposes of all property subject to disposition by the powerholder.

RCW 11.95A.010(3).

Nicholas' Will clearly does not contain a "blanketexercise clause":

> I give, devise, and bequeath the rest, residue, and remainder of my estate to my brother **STEVEN VIVOLO**... This includes, but is not limited to, my power to appoint and my "appointive property" <u>as outlined in the nonexempt GSTT Trust that I am to take free of trust as outlined in that certain TEDRA</u> <u>Agreement, Page 7, Section 3.b as follows...</u>

(CP 70) (first emphasis in original; underline emphasis added).

First, the precise reference to his power of appointment from the "non-exempt GSTT Trust" is a specific-exercise clause (i.e., a clause that "specifically refers to and exercises a particular power of appointment"). So, by definition, the clause cannot be deemed a blanket-exercise clause. RCW 11.95A.010(3) (a ""[b]lanket-exercise clause' means a clause in an instrument which exercises a power of appointment and is not a specificexercise clause.")

Second the clause does not expressly use the words "any power" or "any property" in exercise the power or appointing property subject to the power of appointment. *Compare* RCW 11.95A.010(3) (use of the words "any power" or "any property" must be express), *with* CP **70** (Nicholas' will).

Third, although Nicholas could have disposed of his interest in the Safeway Property (i.e., the asset held in the Residuary Trust), he did not. Likewise, Nicholas' Will does not dispose of all property subject to his powers of appointment. CP **69−7●** (Nicholas' Compare Will), with RCW 11.95A.010(3)(c) (a blanket-exercise clause includes a clause that "[d]isposes of all property subject to disposition by the powerholder"), and with Lindberg, 49 Wn. App. at 795 ("References in the will to the property subject to the power or to the instrument creating it can supply the necessary intent to exercise the power.").

As the Court of Appeals found, "the language of Nicholas' will manifested the intent to exercise his power of appointment only as to the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust. Certainly, Nicholas could have included reference to the Residuary Trust just as he had the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust." *Matter of Tony Vivolo Residuary Tr.*, 2024 WL 5118405, at *9.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that "the language in Nicholas" will does not provide such a blanketexercise clause as defined in RCW 11.95A.010(3)." *Matter of Tony Vivolo Residuary Tr.*, 2024 WL 5118405, at *9.

E. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined Nicholas' Residuary Clause Did Not Control the Disposition of the Residuary Trust.

Steven asserts that because Nicholas did not name the takers in default in his Will, he must have intended to exercise his power of appointment over the Residuary Trust. Steven is wrong both as a matter of fact and as a matter of law.

First, the Court of Appeals considered the surrounding circumstances when making its decision. The Court explicitly noted that Nicholas' reference to the TEDRA Agreement "establishes that at the time Nicholas executed his will, he was aware that the TEDRA Agreement reinstated the Residuary Trust and that the terms were those that existed prior to the 2008 merger, meaning he still had his power of appointment as to the Residuary Trust. Despite knowing this, he elected only to mention the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust." *Matter of Tony Vivolo Residuary Tr.*, 2024 WL 5118405, at *8.

Second, a trust is a non-probate asset, which does not typically pass through a testator's residuary clause. *See* RCW 11.11.020. "A testator who bequeaths the rest, residue and remainder of [his] estate [to] testamentary beneficiaries has not changed the beneficiary designations of his nonprobate assets." *Manary v. Anderson*, 176 Wn.2d 342, 346, 292 P.3d 96 (2013) (internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, a residuary clause that does not explicitly reference a power of appointment does not control the disposition of a trust's assets.

Third, the terms of the Residuary Trust govern default beneficiaries. Because Nicholas did not clearly exercise his power of appointment over the Residuary Trust, the Residuary Trust determines the takers in default, not Nicholas' residuary clause.³ Even if Nicholas' residuary beneficiary designation were relevant, it does not overcome the unambiguous language of the residuary clause. The Court of Appeals correctly held that because Nicholas did not exercise his power of appointment, the Residuary Trust's default provisions apply, not Nicholas' Will:

> The language that manifests a contrary intent as to Nicholas' exercise of that power is the language in Nicholas' will in which he expressly exercised his power of appointment as to the Non-Exempt GSTT Trust without any mention of the Residuary Trust, the subject property of that Trust, or the instruments that granted him power of appointment as to that trust, whether that be Iona's will or Tony's will.

³ Following its finding that Nicholas had not manifested an intent to exercise his power of appointment over the Residuary Trust, the Superior Court ordered that the assets held in the Residuary Trust "f/b/o Nick Vivolo shall pass *pursuant to the terms of the Tony Vivolo Residuary Trust*," and, therefore, pass to the takers in default identified in the Residuary Trust. CP 199-200 (emphasis added). In other words, pursuant to the Superior Court's order, upon its reinstatement, the terms of the Residuary Trust controlled, not Iona's will. Additionally, in presenting to the Court of Appeals, "[b]oth parties cite[d] to Tony's will as the source of Nicholas' power of appointment." *Matter of Tony Vivolo Residuary Tr.*, 2024 WL 5118405, at *7. Steven cannot now reverse the affirmative factual representation made to the Court of Appeals.

Matter of Tony Vivolo Residuary Tr., 2024 WL 5118405, at *8.

Thus, Steven's argument misunderstands both the facts and Washington law.

F. The Court Should Award Respondent Christopher Vivolo His Reasonable Attorneys' Fees and Costs Incurred in Defending Against the Petition for Review.

RAP 14.2 grants the Court discretion to award reasonable attorneys' fees and costs from any party or from estate or trust assets. The Court should award Respondent his attorneys' fees and costs incurred in responding to the Petition for Review. First, Respondent prevailed both in the trial court and at the Court of Appeals. Second, Steven's Petition for Review lacks merit and fails to even identify any qualifying basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). Respondent should be awarded his reasonable attorneys' fees and costs incurred in having to relitigate these issues a third time. Respondent respectfully requests that this Court award him attorneys' fees and costs from the portion of Nicholas' share of the Residuary Trust to be distributed to Steven.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Nicholas' Will did not exercise his power of appointment over the Residuary Trust. Steven fails to show that the decision conflicts with any Supreme Court decision or published Court of Appeals decision, nor does he identify an issue of substantial public interest.

For these reasons, the Court should deny the Petition for Review for failing to qualify for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4) and should award Respondent his reasonable attorneys' fees and costs.